IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DCA Case No. : 2D02-5773 L. T. No. : GC-G01-1023

GLORIANN WILSON and PAMELA WILSON,
Petitioners,
v.
EVA J. SALAMON, M.D. and BOND CLNIC, P.A.,
Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court Of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

> Wayne Johnson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 966177

DECICCIO & JOHNSON

652 West Morse Boulevard

Winter Park, Florida 32789

(407) 740-4111

Attorneys for Petitioners

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Whether the lower courts erred in dismissing the lawsuit when there had been a proper motion and court order in the record in the one-year period prior to dismissal?
- 2) Whether <u>Gulf Appliance Distributors</u>, <u>Inc. v. Long</u>, 53 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1951), is controlling precedent in the case at hand when the Statute on which it is based has been repealed and replaced by Rule 1.420(e) which is different in wording?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants filed a medical malpractice lawsuit on March 15, 2001. (R. Vol. I, p. 3-7.) Appellees filed an answer to the complaint on March 26, 2001. (R. Vol. I, p. 8-9.)

The lawsuit was filed by the undersigned who is a Florida attorney. (R. Vol. I, p. 7.) A Motion for Pro Hac Vice was served on June 21, 2001 to allow Ken Levine to represent Appellants in the Florida lawsuit. (R. Vol. I, p. 10-12.) Mr. Levine specializes in lawsuits of this type, shoulder dystocia cases, and was retained by Appellants for that purpose. (R. Vol. I, p. 12-13.)

Appellants served interrogatories on Appellees on October 1, 2001. (R. Vol. I, p. 38.) Appellees filed objection to the interrogatories on October 23, 2001. (R. Vol. I, p. 38-39.) Depositions of Appellants were conducted on October 23, 2001. (R. Vol. I, p. 18-19.)

On March 26, 2002, Appellants served a Motion for Pro Hac Vice admittance for Vivian Sparacio. (R. Vol. I, p. 14-17.) Ms. Sparacio is an associate in Mr. Levine's law office. (R. Vol. I, p. 14-17.) Appellees had no objection to the motion. (R. Vol. I, p. 14-17.) An order approving the motion was entered on April 3, 2002. (R. Vol. I, p. 18-19.)

On November 1, 2002, Appellees served a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution. (R. Vol. I, p. 20-23.) Appellees stated that there had been no record activity since October 29, 2001 when Appellees responded to Appellants request to produce and interrogatories. (R. Vol. I, p. 20-23.) Appellees acknowledged that Appellants had served the Motion for Pro Hac Vice admittance in the applicable time period. (R. Vol. I, p. 20-23.) It was Appellees position that this did not constitute sufficient record activity however. (R. Vol. I, p. 20-23.)

Appellants filed a response dated November 12, 2002. (R. Vol. I, p. 53-57.) It was Appellants' position that there was sufficient record activity based on the Motion for Pro Hac Vice admittance. (R. Vol. I, p. 53-57.)

A hearing on the motion for dismissal was held on November 18, 2002. (R. Vol. I, p. 73-75.) Appellants' response was in the court file at the time of the hearing. (R. Vol. I, p. 73-75.) The trial judge was able to review the response presented by Appellants' counsel. The response was later entered into the court file. (R. Vol. I, p. 73-75.)

The trial court agreed with position of Appellees and dismissed the matter by order dated November 27, 2002. (R. Vol. I, p. 73-75.) Appellants timely filed an appeal on December 23, 2002.

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order by opinion dated December 31, 2003. The Second District stated that the pro hac vice motion and court order were "passive" activities that did not preclude dismissal. The Second District went on to discuss the fact however that there is no workable distinction between "active" activity and "passive" activity. The Second District stated that under the decision of Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001),

[I]t is arguable that any action taken in good faith by attorneys in a trial court that necessitates a court order should be treated as record activity sufficient to preclude dismissal for failure to prosecute.

The Second District therefore felt it was appropriate to certify the following question as a matter of great public importance

AFTER THE DECISION IN <u>METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY V. HALL</u>, 784 SO. 2D 1087 (FLA. 2001), ARE TRIAL COURT ORDERS THAT ARE ENTERED AND FILED TO RESOLVE MOTIONS THAT HAVE BEEN PROPERLY FILED IN GOOD FAITH UNDER THE RULES OF PROCEDURE AUTOMATICALLY TREATED AS ACTIVITY, OR MUST THE TRIAL COURT CONTINUE TO ASSESS ITS OWN ORDERS TO DETERMINE WHETHER THEY ARE PASSIVE ENTRIES IN THE COURT RECORD?

Following certification of the matter, Petitioners filed a notice to invoke the Supreme Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Petitioners then served a jurisdictional brief. The Court issued an order dated February 10, 2004 requiring Petitioners to serve an initial

brief on the merits on or before March 8, 2004 before the Court determined whether it would accept jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District certified this matter because of the current uncertainty regarding application of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e). The Second District recognized that different decisions are reached in this matter under the two Florida Supreme Court decisions of Gulf Appliance Distributors., Inc. v. Long, 53 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1951), and Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001). The decision in Gulf Appliance Distributors., Inc. v. Long, 53 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1951), was based on a Statute that has been repealed. The correct precedent for deciding this matter is therefore Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001), and its interpretation of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e). Under that precedent it is clear that this matter should not have been dismissed as there was activity on the face of the record. Petitioners respectfully request that this Court REVERSE the order of the trial court and reinstate the lawsuit.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the district court of appeal where the district court has certified a matter as involving a question of great public importance. Art. V, \S 3(b)(4) Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT AND THE SECOND DISTRICT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE LAWSUIT BECAUSE UNDER FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.420(e) AND METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY V. HALL, 784 SO. 2D 1087 (FLA. 2001), THERE WAS CLEAR ACTIVITY ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD.

The Second District Court of Appeal in certifying this matter to the Florida Supreme Court stated that there was still uncertainty regarding the application of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420. This Court has established several tests for interpreting Rule 1.420. This Court should now proceed one step further and implement bright-line tests to clarify its earlier rulings to avoid any further uncertainty in this area.

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) states

All actions in which it appears on the face of the record that no activity by filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise has occurred for a period of 1 year shall be dismissed by the court on its own motion or on the motion of any interested person, whether a party to the action or not, after reasonable notice to the parties. . . . Mere inaction for a period of less than 1 year shall not be sufficient cause for dismissal for failure to prosecute.

In interpreting this Rule, the Court in Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087, 1090 (Fla. 2001), stated

Rule 1.420(e) plainly states that actions "shall" be dismissed if it appears on the face of the record that there was no activity within the past year. This requires only a review of the record. There is either activity on the face of the record or there is not. If a party shows that there is no activity on the face of the record, then the burden moves to the non-moving party to demonstrate within the five-day time requirement that one of the three bases that would preclude dismissal exists.

The departure point as the Rule and Hall make clear is a review of the record to determine if there is activity. If there is activity then there is no dismissal. Activity is the filing of pleadings or an order of the court. Various lower courts have misconstrued the statements of Hall and Rule 1.420(e) and attempted to determine whether the activity is passive or active. Such a determination is not warranted under the clear precedent. Only when there is non-record activity should a court then look to see if the non-record activity is "active" or "passive." The court at that point should use the test laid out in Del Duca v. Anthony, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), to determine if dismissal is warranted.

It is important to note that the Rule states that the activity is either a "pleading" or an "order of the court." In this regard, it is axiomatic to state that a motion is not a pleading. Cf. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.100(a) (defining pleadings) and 1.100(b) (defining motions); Green v. Sun Harbor Homeowners Assn., Inc., 730 So. 2d 1261 (Fla.

¹ The rule states "filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise," but does not define what is meant by otherwise. It is presumed that if "otherwise" meant motions or discovery items then those terms would have been used in the Rule.

1998). Likewise, discovery items such as interrogatories and depositions are not pleadings. Thus, when a court looks at the face of the record the only items that should preclude dismissal are pleadings and court orders. This is the clear import of Rule 1.420(e) and Hall. Only when there are no pleadings or court orders in a one-year period does the court look to see if there is active activity to preclude dismissal. At that point, the test enunciated in Del Duca v. Anthony, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), is used to see if the activity is moving the case forward.

A. The court order approving the pro hac vice motion was record activity that should have prevented dismissal.

There is no dispute that the motion for pro hac vice and the court order granting it fell within the one-year period. A strict application of Rule 1.420(e) and Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001), mandates that the lower courts erred in dismissing the lawsuit.

The words of Rule 1.420(e) could not be more clear: Dismissal should be granted only when it appears on the face of the record that there has been no activity by filing of pleadings or order of court. Likewise, the words of <u>Hall</u> could not be more lucid: There is either activity on the face of the record or there is not. If there

is, then dismissal should be denied. The court order here is activity on the face of the record and thus dismissal was improper.

B. The Second District Court of Appeal's interpretation of *Del Duca v. Anthony*, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991) cannot be reconciled with *Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall*, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001).

In <u>Del Duca v. Anthony</u>, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court outlined a two-step process in determining whether dismissal is appropriate under Rule 1.420(e).

First, the defendant is required to show there has been no record activity for the year preceding the motion. Second, if there has been no record activity, the plaintiff has an opportunity to establish good cause why the action should not be dismissed.

<u>Del Duca v. Anthony</u>, 587 So. 2d 1306, 1308-09 (Fla. 1991). If there has been legal action in the preceding year then the rule allows the

[T]rial judge to dismiss the cause if the discovery is in bad faith **and** is also "without any design 'to move the case forward toward a conclusion on the merits."

The Second District Court of Appeal in its opinion stated that <u>Del Duca</u> does not apply to this case because <u>Del Duca</u> is only utilized under step two. In other words, the Second District is stating that <u>Del Duca</u> is only utilized if there has been no record activity. If there was record activity then the trial court must determine if the activity was in bad faith and not designed to move the case forward, i.e. was it passive

activity. To adopt the Second District's reasoning would however create a legal morass that the Second District was stating it wanted to avoid.

The Second District here stated that <u>Del Duca</u> was never triggered in this case because there was activity on the face the record. The Second District then stated that the activity was passive and therefore dismissal was warranted. The Second District did note that if <u>Del Duca</u> did apply then this case should not have been dismissed because "an order entered in good faith by the trial court to resolve a proper motion would clearly be 'active' record activity." Slip op. at 4; <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall</u>, 784 So. 2d 1087, 1090 (Fla. 2001) ("We also note that when there is record activity occurring during the preceding year . . . good cause always exists.").

The first problem with Second District's analysis, as it clearly acknowledged, is that its interpretation of <u>Del Duca v. Anthony</u>, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), cannot be reconciled with <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall</u>, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001). As previously discussed, the only test under <u>Hall</u> is to look at the face of record. It there is activity then dismissal should be denied.

The second problem with the Second District's analysis is that in order to avoid dismissal it would be more advantageous to have non-record than record activity. If there is record activity (as there was here) then the only test utilized by the trial court

is determining whether the activity was active or passive. If however there is nonrecord activity then the test is whether the activity was active or passive **and** whether
it was done in bad faith. Thus, Petitioners here would have been better off to have
reached a stipulation with Respondents on the pro hac vice issue and not filed it with
the court because then Respondents would have had to show that the stipulation was
passive **and** in bad faith. This type of illogical result could not have been the intended
result by the Court in its decisions in <u>Del Duca</u> and <u>Hall</u>. This Court should reconcile
these two decisions and hold that if on the face of the record there is either a pleading
or a court order to a properly filed motion then dismissal should be denied. If there
is no such record activity in a one-year period then the test laid out in <u>Del Duca</u> should
be utilized to determine if dismissal is appropriate.

The first part of the certified question presented to this Court is whether "after the decision in Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001), are trial court orders that are entered and filed to resolve motions that have been properly filed in good faith under the rules of procedure automatically treated as activity?" This Court should answer this portion of the certified question in the affirmative.

<u>C.</u>

The trial court erred and Second District Court of Appeal erred in finding that the motion for pro hac vice status and the court order approving it were passive activities.

The Second District Court of Appeal in dismissing this matter stated that it did not see any difference between an order substituting counsel which the Florida Supreme Court had previously determined to be a passive document and the pro hac vice order in this matter. In <u>Gulf Appliance Distributors v. Long</u>, 53 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1951), the Florida Supreme Court affirmed a dismissal of a lawsuit even though there had been an order substituting counsel for the defendant. The Court stated that the fact that the **defendant** changed attorneys did not hasten the case towards judgment. The fact that it was the defendant that secured the order on counsel in <u>Gulf Appliance</u> makes that case distinguishable from this one where it was the **Plaintiffs-Petitioners** that wanted to add an attorney more skilled in medical malpractice to pursue the claim.

The Motion for pro hac vice admittance was essential for moving this case forward. The motion is governed by Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.061. That rule makes it abundantly clear that admitting a foreign attorney is up to the discretion of a trial court. Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1990). A foreign attorney cannot appear before a court to argue on her client's behalf without having been admitted. In fact, a foreign attorney could not have filed the lawsuit. A Florida

attorney filed this lawsuit, but it was the foreign attorneys that would in fact be the lead counsel on the case. (R. Vol. I, 12-13, 16-17.) That makes the pro hac vice motion and order materially different from a substitution of counsel which the courts have held are not sufficient record activity to prevent dismissal. See Nesbitt v. Community Health of South Dade, Inc., 566 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

The appearance of pro hac vice counsel is substantial different from that of a Florida attorney appearing in a case. A Florida attorney does not need the permission of the court to make an appearance. In <u>State Industries v. Jernigan</u>, 751 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), the court basically stated that a foreign attorney will be held to a higher standard and closer scrutiny. This is because

A Florida lawyer in good standing has a "right" to appear in court. No special permission is required. Although the Florida lawyer's right to so appear is not absolute ... such right to appear is rarely denied and rightfully so. The out-of-state lawyer, on the other hand, has no absolute right to appear as counsel in Florida. When consent to such appearance is given, the only control over such counsel's conduct is in the hands of the trial judge.

Jernigan, 751 So. 2d at 682. It should therefore be clear that if an out-of-state lawyer has no absolute right to appear as counsel then only upon proper motion and court order can she appear. Thus any motion and court order allowing such appearance is significant legal activity that will move a case forward. If the attorney is not allowed

to appear then a client will be denied its choice of counsel. The court retains jurisdiction over the attorney to revoke the privilege after the foreign attorney has been admitted. Kalmonson v. Kalmonson, 823 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); see also State Industries v. Jernigan, 751 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) (privilege revoked for unprofessional conduct during deposition).

The case of <u>Abaddon, Inc. v. Schindler</u>, 826 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), is instructive to the matter at hand. There, the only record activity was a motion to appoint a commissioner for conducting an out of state deposition. Because such a motion was needed to conduct an out-of-state record activity the appellate court found it was sufficient activity to preclude dismissal. Here, a motion and an order were needed for Attorney Sparacio to appear before this court. Attorney Sparacio would be the one prosecuting Appellants' action. Without her admittance the case could not move forward.

II.
THE STATUTE RELIED ON IN <u>GULF APPLIANCE DISTRIBUTORS, INC.</u>
<u>V. LONG</u>, 53 SO. 2D 706 (FLA. 1951) IS DIFFERENT IN WORDING FROM RULE 1.420(E) AND THUS DISTINGUISHABLE.

In <u>Gulf Appliance Distributors</u>, Inc. v. Long, 53 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1951), the Florida Supreme Court interpreted the following statute:

All actions at law or suits in equity . . . in which there shall not affirmatively appear from some action taken by the filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise, that the same is being prosecuted, for a period of one year, shall be deemed abated for want of prosecution and the same shall be dismissed by the court having jurisdiction of the cause.

Sect. 45.19(1), Fla. Stat. (1949). As the Second District discussed, this is different from Rule 1.420(e) where there is no requirement that it be shown that a matter is being affirmatively prosecuted. Slip op. at 3.

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) was created in 1968 by the Florida Supreme Court. In re Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, 211 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1968). The original Rule was nearly identical to Florida Statute Section 45.19(1) which was repealed in 1968. It was therefore held that case law interpreting Florida Statute Section 45.19 was applicable in interpreting Rule 1.420(e). Musselman Steel Fabricators v. Radziwon, 263 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1972). The active/passive distinction had been adopted by the Florida Supreme Court in Gulf Appliance based on a similar

statute from Louisiana and the interpretation of that statute. <u>Id.</u> at 707. The Rule however underwent substantial changes that calls into question the current applicability of the case law interpreting Section 45.19 and later held to be applicable to Rule 1.420(e).

The original Rule 1.420(e) stated

All actions in which it affirmatively appears that no action has been taken by filing of pleadings, order of court or otherwise for a period of one year shall be dismissed by the court on its own motion or on the motion of any interested person.

In re Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, 211 So. 2d 206, 207 (Fla. 1968).

The original version of the Rule did not contain the word "prosecuted" as the Statute did, but it did have the requirement that if it affirmatively appears that no action is being taken then dismissal is warranted. The Rule was then amended in 1976 to state the following:

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