IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-140 Lower Tribunal No.: 2D02-5773

GLORIANN WILSON. PAMELA WILSON her mother and PAMELA WILSON, INDIVIDUALLY, Petitioners,

vs.

EVA J. SALAMON, M.D., and BOND CLINIC, P.A., Respondents,

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. HANNAH#0127577ROBIN D. BLACK#0329990HANNAH, ESTES & INGRAM, P.A.Post Office Box 4974Orlando, FL 32802-4974(407) 481-9449Attorneys for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Dismissal under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) was appropriate because no record activity existed during the one-year period preceding the Motion to Dismiss, and Petitioners failed to show good cause as required by the rule to prevent dismissal. The record contained only pleadings related to Petitioners' Motion for Pro Hac Vice Admittance which equated to nothing more than the addition of counsel, because Petitioners' Florida counsel never withdrew from representation in this matter. Pleadings related to the change of counsel have consistently been deemed passive, and therefore insufficient to preclude dismissal under rule 1.420(e). <u>Gulf Appliance Ditributors, Inc. v. Long</u>, 53 So.2d 706, 707 (Fla. 1951).

The <u>Del Duca</u> and <u>Hall</u> decisions can be reconciled as each case deals with a separate part of the two-step analysis established to evaluate failure to prosecute claims. <u>Del Duca v. Anthony</u>, 587 So.2d 1306, 1308-09 (Fla. 1991); <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall</u>, 784 So.2d 1087, 1090 (Fla. 2001). Both cases limit the showing of good faith to preclude to dismissal to cases where non-record discovery was completed which furthered the progress of the case. <u>Id</u>. As the instant matter does not rely on discovery in its grounds for the failure to prosecute claim or to show good cause, neither <u>Del Duca</u> or <u>Hall</u> provide Petitioners with a refuge to preclude dismissal.

Finally, Petitioners reliance on the language of <u>Hall</u> and the evolution of rule 1.420(e) regarding activity on the face of the record oversimplifies the existing case law and fails to further the intent of the rule, which is to is to "encourage prompt and efficient prosecution of cases and to clear trial dockets of litigation that essentially has been abandoned." <u>Barnett Bank v. Fleming</u>, 508 So.2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1987).

Respondents urge this Court to affirm the dismissal finding that pleadings related to pro hac vice admittance are insufficient to preclude dismissal and no good cause existed for Petitioners to reinstate the case.

ARGUMENT

I. DISMISSAL WAS APPROPRIATE UNDER RULE 1.420(e), AND NEITHER THE TRIAL COURT NOR THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN GRANTING OR AFFIRMING THE DISMISSAL.

The instant matter is a case which supports the reasons underlying the creation of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) and the existing case law interpreting failure to prosecute cases. Rule 1.420(e) was created in order "to encourage prompt and efficient prosecution of cases and to clear trial dockets of litigation that essentially has been abandoned." <u>Barnett Bank v. Fleming</u>, 508 So.2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1987). In an effort to define record activity in a way which promotes the purpose of Rule 1.420(e), record activity has consistently been interpreted to include only that activity which by design moves the case forward towards a conclusion on the merits or otherwise hastens the suit towards a judgment. <u>Id.</u>

In certifying a question as a matter of great public importance, the Second District Court of Appeal sought guidance from this Court asking:

After the decision in <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall</u>, 784 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 2001), are trial court orders that are entered and filed to resolve motions that have been properly filed in good faith under the rules of procedure automatically treated as activity, or must the trial court continue to determine whether they are passive entries in the court record?

Respondent would respectfully urge this Court to affirm the reasoning found in the existing case law and find that in order to promote the intent of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) record activity must be assessed by the trial court to determine if the activity progresses the case towards a determination based on the merits.

A. <u>Record activity requires a determination by the trial court in</u> order to further the intent of Rule 1.420(e).

The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure specifically provide a means for dismissal when a party has failed to prosecute a case during a one year period. The interpretation of rule 1.420(e) by Florida's courts provides a framework necessary to guarantee that a case is actively pursued in a timely fashion and protects both the courts and defendants by clearing dockets of abandoned litigation. In entirety Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) reads:

Failure to Prosecute. All actions in which it appears on the face of the record that no activity by filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise has occurred for a period of 1 year shall be dismissed by the court on its own motion or on the motion of any interested person, whether a party to the action or not, after reasonable notice to the parties, unless a stipulation staying the action is approved by the court or a stay order has been filed or a party shows good cause in writing at least 5 days before the hearing on the motion why the action should remain pending. Mere inaction for a period of less than 1 year shall not be sufficient cause for dismissal for failure to prosecute.

In interpreting the rule, Florida courts have consistently endorsed an evaluation of the record activity, which involves more than a superficial review of

the face of the record. A two-step process was adopted in <u>Del Duca v. Anthony</u>, 587 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1991). Initially, the defendant must show "there has been no record activity for the year preceding the motion." <u>Id.</u> at 1308. Then, if no record activity is shown, the plaintiff may preclude the dismissal by establishing good cause as to why the matter should not be dismissed. <u>Id.</u> at 1308-09.

Del Duca focuses on discovery requests which were filed with the court and adopts the test laid out by the Second District which permits a judge to dismiss a case when the discovery was propounded in bad faith and is also "without any design 'to move the case forward toward a conclusion on the merits.'" Id. at 1309 (quoting Barnett Bank v. Fleming, 508 So.2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1987)). Beyond enumerating the two-step process used for evaluating failure to prosecute claims, Del Duca delineates the requirements to for a showing of good cause founded on discovery. Id. However, this provides no refuge for Petitioners in the instant matter, because the good cause analysis under the second step is irrelevant to this appeal as Petitioners failed to file, not serve, good cause in writing five days prior to the hearing. The outcome of this appeal rests solely on the interpretation of the first step only.

Like <u>Del Duca</u>, the <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall</u> decision involves discovery matters and a determination on the second step – good cause. <u>Hall</u>, 784 So.2d 1087, 1090 (Fla. 2001) (holding that depositions and an offer of judgment

7

which were not filed with the court constituted good cause). However, Petitioners attempt to rely on language from the <u>Hall</u> decision indicating that "[t]here is either activity on the face of the record or there is not." <u>Id.</u> at 1090. This oversimplifies the language from the opinion. After stating that rule 1.420(e) requires a review of the record to determine whether or not activity exists on the face of the record, <u>Hall</u> provides guidance on the good cause analysis only. The opinion does not contain guidance as to what evaluations must be made by the trial court when there is activity on the face of the record. <u>Sheen v. Time Inc. Magazine Co.</u>, 817 So.2d 974, 977 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002).

Just as a showing of good cause requires evaluation by the court, the first step regarding record activity requires a determination by the court. In cases where there is some activity on the face of the record,

the trial court is left with the task of determining whether the activity in question constitutes sufficient record activity to preclude dismissal under rule 1.420(e). <u>Del Duca</u>, 587 So.2d at 1309.

<u>Sheen</u>, 817 So.2d at 977. Similar to the instant matter, the plaintiff in <u>Sheen</u> attempted to rely on <u>Hall</u> for the proposition that any filing with the court would constitute record activity sufficient to preclude dismissal. However, the Third District found the plaintiff's reliance on <u>Hall</u> to be misplaced. <u>Id.</u> Not every item found in a court's file is considered to be record activity under Rule 1.420(e). <u>Toney</u> <u>v. Freeman</u>, 600 So.2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 1992) (finding this interpretation to be

consistent with the "spirit and purpose" of the rule). The definition of record activity has been interpreted to recognize only those filings that advance the case towards resolution. Id. This Court's opinion in Toney directly contradicts the unsupported statement made in Petitioners' Initial Brief defining activity as "the filing of pleadings or an order of the court." (Pet. Brief, p. 9). A trial court's own status order and counsels' filed responses do not constitute record activity because they only relate to information about the status of the case and do not actually progress the case towards resolution. Id. at 1101. In 1992, this Court endorsed the opinion in Norflor Construction finding that the opinion was consistent with the principle that record activity must advance a case toward resolution. Id. at 1100 (approving Norflor Construction Corp. v. Gainesville, 512 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Under Norflor Construction the First DCA found insufficient record activity to preclude dismissal, where the record contained a court order requiring plaintiffs to advise the court of the cases' status, the plaintiff's response to the court order and a notice of change of counsel's address. <u>Norflor Construction</u>, 512 So.2d at 267. Dismissal was based simply on the effect of the record material in progressing the case towards resolution. No finding of good faith was ever utilized by the court to evaluate the materials in the record.

The intent behind rule 1.420(e) is supported by the interpretation that affirmative record activity is required to defeat a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. <u>Toney</u>, 600 So.2d at 1100; <u>Overseas Dev., Inc. v. Amerifirst Fed. Sav.</u> <u>and Loan Ass'n</u>, 433 So.2d 587, 588 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Record activity has consistently been found to require that the pleading or order was reasonably calculated to advance the case toward resolution. Furthermore, not all pleadings or orders constitute record activity sufficient to defeat an otherwise well-taken motion to dismiss. <u>Overseas Dev., Inc.</u>, 433 So.2d at 589.

B. <u>Pleadings related to Pro Hac Vice admittance are no</u> different than any other pleadings related to the withdrawal or change of counsel which do not constitute record activity under Rule 1.420(e).

A pleading must be a legal prerequisite which is necessary to continue the successful prosecution of the matter in order to avoid being a passive step which does not constitute record activity under Rule 1.420(e). <u>Overseas Dev., Inc.</u>, 433 So.2d at 589. Where a plaintiff pointed to a motion dealing with the defendant's name change, the court declared the motion a passive step indicating it was "much akin to a motion and court order substituting counsel in the cause, which in no way hastened the lawsuit to final resolution." <u>Id.</u> The technical name change was not a legal prerequisite to the continued prosecution of the case and could not defeat a motion to dismiss. <u>Id.</u>

The <u>Overseas</u> decision above bases its reasoning in part on the comparison of the motion at issue to the passive pleadings regarding substitution of counsel. Notices, pleadings and orders involving the withdrawal and substitution of counsel do not constitute record activity sufficient to preclude dismissal. <u>Nat'l Enters</u>, <u>Inc.v</u> <u>Foodtech Hialeah</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 777 So.2d 1191, 1192, n2 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). The law has consistently found pleadings dealing with the change of counsel to be passive and not calculated to advance the case. <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Nesbitt v. Cmty</u>. <u>Health of S. Dade</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 566 So.2d 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)); <u>Touron v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 690 So.2d 649, 649 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); <u>Norflor Constr. Corp. v. City of Gainesville</u>, 512 So.2d 266, 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Dion v. Bald</u>, 664 So.2d 348, 349 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Change of attorneys even when necessitated by misfortune does not even constitute good cause sufficient to preclude dismissal under the second step of the lack of prosecution evaluation, much less record activity.

While no case specifically addresses pleadings regarding pro hac vice admittance, in the instant matter pro hac vice admittance amounts to nothing more than substitution of counsel, despite Petitioners' arguments to the contrary. Petitioners were never without counsel as Wayne Johnson never withdrew from their representation. Furthermore, even after Vivian Sparacio was admitted pro hac vice on April 4, 2002, approximately seven months passed where neither of Petitioners' attorneys advanced the litigation of this matter. This inaction further

11

exemplifies why Appellants Motion for and the Order granting Pro Hac Vice admittance should be treated as nothing more than passive activity.

The justification for finding that pro hac vice admittance should not constitute record activity and is no different than any other pleadings regarding change of counsel is illustrated by the following hypothetical. For purposes of this example, Respondents would ask the Court to assume facts similar to this case, including that Petitioners' local counsel sought assistance from an out-of-state attorney with legal expertise specific to the merits of the underlying cause of action, and that Petitioners' were never without counsel at any time. Only in the hypothetical, assume that Petitioners continue to seek assistance from out-of-state counsel. In theory Petitioners could file one motion for pro hac vice admittance a year for a period of ten years. At the conclusion of the decade, no actual progress on the merits of the case would have been accomplished. Yet Respondents would be prevented from dismissing the action if this Court adopts an interpretation of record activity finding that pro hac vice is somehow distinguishable from other pleadings regarding change of counsel. Respondents would be left without the protections provided by Rule 1.420(e) guaranteeing that a case be actively prosecuted; despite the fact that Petitioners' case had been ongoing for at least ten years with no action to hasten the case toward judgment.

Petitioners' argument that pro hac vice requires a court order and the attorneys are held to a "higher standard and closer scrutiny" is misleading. While it is true that an out-of-state attorney may only appear after the proper motion has been filed and an order entered, that is no different than many other change of counsel situations. For example, an in-state attorney would have to move the court for leave to withdraw from a case; however, neither the motion nor an order granting leave to withdraw constitutes record activity to preclude a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute. <u>Nat'l Enters.</u>, 777 So.2d at 1192, n2. Similarly substitution of counsel for an in-state attorney would also require a motion and order, but would not constitute record activity. <u>Id.</u>

Dismissals involving change of counsel have been upheld even in situations where a plaintiff is left without counsel, which is even more severe than the instant matter where Petitioners were never without counsel. Not only does change of counsel fail to constitute record activity, but the courts have also found that change of counsel does not constitute good cause in the second part of the analysis, even when caused by a disabled attorney's inability to represent her client. Florida Power & Light Co. v. Gilman, 280 So.2d 15, 16 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Diaz, 529 So.2d 682,684 (Fla. 1988). The analysis of good cause is not required for the instant matter, but lends additional support to the strict interpretation of the courts requiring that a plaintiff continue to actively prosecute his

cause of action regardless of changes in counsel once the case has been filed. The Trial Court properly granted the dismissal as Petitioners are wholly without record activity which progresses the case towards a determination on the merits for a one year period.

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